047

# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

THOMAS D. HALL APR 2 7 2001

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

DENNIS ROPER, Appellant,

VS.

CASE NO. **SC01-796**Circuit Court Case No. 0 **1-460-CI-0** 15

CITY OF CLEARWATER, a municipal and public body corporate and politic of the State of Florida, Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

Hon. Crockett Fame11

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PATRICK T. MAGUIRE, ESQ.

Attorney for Appellant 1253 Park Street Clearwater, FL 33756 (727)442-3838 Florida Bar No. 26637 1

##

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal taken pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(B)(i), Rules of Appellate Procedure. This initial brief of Appellant is served with Appendix in accordance with Rule 9.11 O(i), Rules of Appellate Procedure. Reference to the Appendix shall be in the following form (A- ). Reference to the Transcript shall be in the following form (T-p. \_\_\_\_1)\_\_\_\_

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about January 19,200 1, Appellee filed his Complaint for Validation of Bonds.

On or about January 22,200 1, the Honorable Crockett Farnell issued his Order to Show Cause in the proceedings.

On or about February 13,200 1, Dennis Roper, Defendant, Taxpayer, property owner and citizen of the City of Clear-water, filed his Answer.

On or about March 1,200 1, the Honorable Crockett Farnell issued a Final Judgment, granting Appellee's relief sought by its Complaint.

On or about March 30, 2001, Appellant Dennis Roper filed his Notice of Appeal.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

- 1, Appellee, City of Clearwater, seeks to issue Revenue Bonds for the construction of a \$22,000,000 Sports Facility for use by the Philadelphia Phillies. (A-1)
- 2. A \$14,000,000 Bond Issue shall be repaid utilizing \$7,000,000 from the State of Florida, and \$7,000,000 from Pinellas County. (A- 1)
- 3. Appellee will provide the approximately thirty (3 0) acres for the construction of the stadium, and also provide \$5,000,000 in additional construction costs for the stadium. (T-30)
- 4. The **Phillies** will contribute approximately \$3,000,000 toward construction costs of the project..

  (T-30)
- 5. The land and facilities shall be owned, operated, maintained and repaired by Appellee. (A-l)
- 6. No ownership interest by way of lease or sale will inure to the Phillies.

  (A-1)
- 7. There is no provision for the repayment of Appellee's \$5,000,000 from the Bond proceeds or by the Phillies. (A- 1; T intoto)

- 8. Clearwater's Charter requires a referendum for all projects in excess of \$1,000,000 for which revenue bonds are sought, except if the project is for industrial development.
- 9. Industrial revenue bonds are governed by Chapter 159, Part II, Florida Statutes.
- 10. No referendum was held to authorize the issuance of the bonds sought by the Appellee.

### **ISSUE ON APPEAL**

DOES THE PROJECT FOR WHICH APPELLEE SEEKS REVENUE BOND VALIDATION CONSTITUTE A PROJECT FOR INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT SO AS TO EXEMPT IT FROM THE REFERENDUM REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE IX OF APPELLEE'S CHARTER.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

While the project meets the **definition** of a "tourism facility" as defined by Section 159.27(11) Florida Statutes, the project as presented in the pleadings and proofs does not qualify as an industrial development project in accordance with Chapter 159, Part II, Florida Statutes, and therefore is not exempt from the referendum requirements of Article IX, Clear-water City Charter.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Charter of the City of Clear-water contains the following provision:

"The fiscal management procedure shall include provisions relating to the operating budget, capital program, providing for hearings on the budget, capital budget and capital program and the amendment of the budget following adoption. Such ordinance shall, in addition, contain a provisions requiring that revenue bonds for projects in excess of \$1,000,000.00 shall be put to public referendum with exception of revenue bonds for public health, safety or industrial development and revenue bonds for refunding." Article IX, City of Clear-water, City Charter.

Municipalities do not have inherent authority to incur bonded indebtedness.

Merrill vs. St. Petersburg, 109 So.3 15 (1926). They have only such authority as the legislature expressly or by necessary implication confers on them. Nuveen vs. Quincy, 156 So. 153 (1934). All doubts as to existence of such power being resolved against the municipality and in favor of the taxpayer and voter. State of Florida vs. Boca Raton, 172 So.2d 230 (Fla. 1965).

The limitation contained in Article IX of the City's Charter is a limitation on the City's authority to issue these bonds. <u>State of Florida vs. Boca Raton</u>, supra; <u>Easterlin vs. Citv of New Port Richey</u>, 105 So.2d 361 (Fla. 1958). Article IX requires that revenue bonds for projects in excess of \$1,000,000.00 be

approved by referendum of the voters. That language applies to all projects.

Article IX provides an exception to the referendum requirement for projects for "Industrial Development". Since all bonds for projects in excess of \$1 ,000,000.00 need to be approved by referendum, the exception for Industrial Development contemplates a project qualifying as an Industrial Development project in accordance with Chanter 159, Part II, Florida Statutes.

From the pleadings and proofs of Appellee, it is clear that Appellee recognizes the governing authority of <u>Chanter 159</u>, <u>Part II</u>, <u>Florida Statutes</u>. Appellee specifically invokes <u>Chapter 159</u>, <u>Rart II</u> in <u>Sts Complaint</u>. e paragraph 6, A-l).

Therefore, the project must meet not only the definition as set forth in <a href="Chapter 159.27(11">Chapter 159.27(11)</a>, but also the other substantive criteria of <a href="Chapter 159">Chapter 159</a>, Part II, Florida Statutes. The substantive sections of <a href="Chapter 159">Chapter 159</a>, Part II, Florida Statutes, which are relevant to these proceedings are as follows:

Section 159.27(2)(a through e): Definition of Cost of Project;

Section 159.27(5): Definition of Project;

Section 159.27(11): Definition of Tourism Facility;

Section 159.27(18): Definition of Financing Agreement;

Section 159.29(2): Financing Agreements, Operation and Repair Requirements of Leased Project;

Section 159.29(3): Adequacy to meet Impacts of Project;

<u>Section 159.29(4)</u>: Adequate Provision for Operation, Repair and Maintenance by Lessee of the Project;

<u>Section 159.30(1)</u>: Prohibiting Project Financed to be Operated by Local Agency or other governmental agency; requirement that project either be sold, contracted to be sold or leased;

Section 159.30(1)(a): Requirement that Lessee shall at its own expense operate, repair, and maintain the project leased;

Section 159.30(1)(b): Requirement that Rent Payable under the lease will be in an amount sufficient to pay all interest, principal, redemption premiums on the bonds issued;

Section 159.30(1)(c): Lessee shall pay all other costs incurred by the local agency in connection with the financing construction, administration of the project;

Section 159.30(1)(e): Lessee's obligation to pay rent shall not be subject to

cancellation, termination, or abatement by the Lessee until such payment of the bonds or provision for such payment is made;

Section 159.33(2): Any and all monies advanced on behalf of any project which was derived from any tax source of the local agency shall be repaid from the bond proceeds or from the Lessee to the governmental entity which advanced same;

Section 159.34(2): Revenue bonds may be issued only if they are payable solely from the revenue derived from the sale, operation, or leasing of any project or other payments received under financing agreements with respect thereto.

All of the foregoing make it clear that all costs, interest, principal and repayments of whatever kind or nature arising out of the project shall be paid by the Lessee or purchaser of the "Industrial Development" project. Also, the project may not be owned or operated by the governmental entity.

As revealed by the pleadings and proofs in this cause, it is clear that the Project violates or is contrary to certain of the previously cited code provisions in that:

1. The City of Clearwater will manage, operate and own the facility. (See below A-1; Ex., E 2.46; 4.1; 8.4; 9.2; 9.4; 9.5; 9.7; 12.1.2; 12.1).

- 2. There is no lease or purchase to be entered into between The **Phillies** and the City of Clearwater. (See below A-l, Ex.E. 4.1).
- 3. The costs of utilities, maintenance, repair, taxes and insurance will be borne by the City. (See below A-1, Ex.E. 8.4; 9.2; 9.4; 9.5; 9.711.1; 11,2;12.1.2; 12.1).
- 4. There is not sufficient revenue from the use of the facility by the **Phillies** to pay for the bonds, maintenance, repairs and operation of the facility. (See below A-1, Ex. E. 6)
- 5. Revenues are being paid to the **Phillies** when there is not adequate revenue to service the bonds. (See below A-1 Ex.E. 7)
- 6. The Appellee will spend Five Million (\$5,000,000) Dollars which is derived from other tax sources which are not being reimbursed from the Bond Proceeds or from the Lessee. The foregoing is a clear violation of Section 159.33 (2), Florida Statutes. (T-30, 3 1)

Appendix A- 1, Exhibit E, contains, in part, the following provisions:

2.46 "Sports Facility Manager" shall mean City's Park & Recreation Director or his or her designee.

- 4.1 Ownership of Sports Facility. The City covenants and agrees that, at all times during the Term, the Sports Facility will be owned by the City, with complete and sufficient right to make use of the Sports Facility available to The **Phillies** on the terms and with the rights herein provided, subject only to restrictions of record as of the date hereof as reflected in the title report delivered by the City pursuant to the SFDA. This Agreement does not create or grant any real property interest or similar right, title or interest in the Sport Facility to The **Phillies** or any of its Affiliates.
- 6. **ExerFee**and after the Commencement Date. The Phillies shall pay, in arrears, a use fee to the City at the rate of \$70,000 per calendar year during the Term, subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 6.2. The Use Fee for each calendar year during the Term shall be payable by March 3 1<sup>st</sup> of the following year.
- 7. Revenues. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Section 7, The **Phillies** alone shall be entitled to retain all revenues generated on and from the Sports Facility during the Term from all sources whatsoever, including by way of illustration but not limitation, all ticket, premium seating, luxury suite, food and beverage, **signage**, merchandise, broadcasting, sponsorship and parking revenues and all revenues from the operation of the Commercial Space and fantasy camps.
- 8.4 <u>City Services</u>. City will provide all appropriate City services at appropriate levels of coverage for all Events, including without limitation, police surrounding the Sports Facility for security and traffic control purposes and to prevent scalping and unauthorized sale of merchandise at the Sports Facility and paramedical services. (For this purpose, "scalping" shall mean the selling of tickets for more than \$1 above face amount, and the "unauthorized sale of merchandise" shall mean the sale of goods by a Person who has not been authorized by The **Phillies** to make such sales and the sale of

unlicensed goods, whenever a license is required for such sale to be given by The Phillies, MLB or other holders of the marks embodies on such goods.) The **Phillies** will provide necessary security and paramedical services within the Sports Facility.

- 9.2 <u>City Maintenance</u>, Repair etc. Obligations. Except for The **Phillies** Maintenance Obligations, the City shall have the obligation to provide all maintenance, repairs, restorations, refurbishments and replacements, whether interior or exterior, structural or nonstructural, routine or extraordinary, ordinary or capital in nature, as shall be necessary to keep the Sports Facility clean, safe and in good order, condition and repair, and in compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements and in first class condition and up to first class MLB spring training stadium standards at the time of reference, provided however, that (subject to Sections 14 and 15 hereof) this obligation shall not operate to require the City to construct a new Sports Facility, or to substantially reconstruct the Sports Facility during the Term hereof. The Consulting Engineer shall annually determine which capital repairs, restorations, refurbishments and Replacements shall be scheduled to be done in the future, and when. The costs of the Consulting Engineer shall be borne equally by The Phillies and the City. The determinations of the Consulting Engineer shall be conclusive on both the City and The Phillies.
- 9.4 <u>Sports Facility Manager</u>. The Sports Facility Manager shall be responsible for the day-to-day oversight of the maintenance, repair and condition of the Sports Facility, and shall be the representative of the City with whom The **Phillies** may communicate. The Sports Facility Manager shall have authority to bind the City to the fullest extent permitted by law, provided, however, that the Sports Facility Manager shall not have the legal authority to bind the City to financial obligations without the prior approval of City's governing body.
- 9.5 <u>Personnel</u>. The City shall provide such level of qualified and properly trained personnel to perform its obligations under Section 9.2.

- 9.7 <u>Action by The Phillies</u>. Without limiting The Phillies' rights Under Section 17, if The **Phillies** in good faith determines that any portion of the Sports Facility (excluding only the playing fields) is not being maintained and/or repaired by the City in accordance with the standards and requirements set forth in Section 9.2, 9.3 and 9.6, The **Phillies** shall have the right, but not the obligations, to advance funds for or otherwise provide appropriate maintenance and/or repair, subject to the following provisions:
- 9.7.1 <u>Notice Practicable.</u> If practicable, The **Phillies** shall give written notice to the City specifying the nature of the required work, and the date by which The **Phillies** reasonably considers it necessary to commence such work following its receipt of such a notice:
  - (i) The City may commence such work prior to the date and time so specified by The **Phillies** and prosecute the same diligently to completion, if the City does so, The **Phillies** shall not undertake such work itself.
  - (ii) If the City disputes whether the requested work required to fulfill the City's obligations under this Agreement, the City shall so inform The **Phillies** in writing prior to the date and time specified by The **Phillies** in its notice. If the City gives timely notice, the dispute shall be submitted to Expedited ADR prior to the date **and time** specified by The **Phillies** in is notice.
  - (iii) If (a) the City does not commence such work prior to the date and time specified by The Phillies and prosecute the same diligently to completion, or (b) The City fails to give timely notice of a dispute, or (c) it is not practicable to submit the matter to Expedited ADR prior to the date and time specified by The Phillies in its notice, then in any such event, The Phillies may commence the work necessary to remedy the matter on an emergency basis and prosecute the same diligently to completion.
  - 9.7.2 Emergency. If The Phillies in good faith determines that

work must be performed on an emergency basis (that is, it must be performed in order to prevent an imminent danger to health or safety or it is otherwise not practicable to give notice provided in this Section 9.7), then The Phillies may commence work to remedy the matter on an emergency basis, and prosecute the same diligently to completion.

- 9.7.3 Payment to The Phillies. The City shall promptly reimburse The Phillies on demand for any amounts expended pursuant to this Section 9.7 (including interest at the Default Rate from the date that is 30 days after the date of demand until paid if such amount is not paid by the 45<sup>th</sup> day following the date of demand). If the City disputes that the work was required to fulfill the City's obligations hereunder, Expedited ADR shall be convened to resolve the dispute.
  - (i) If and to the extent it is determined by Expedited ADR that work was not required to fulfill the City's obligations hereunder, then The Phillies shall not be entitled to any reimbursement for any sums expended by The Phillies.
    (ii) If and to the extent it is determined by Expedited ADR that the work was required to fulfill the City's obligations hereunder, then the City shall immediately reimburse The Phillies for all sums expended by The Phillies on the w plus interest at the Default Rate.
- 11.1 <u>Possessory Taxes</u>. It is the intent of the parties that the Sport Facility (land and improvements) shall be exempt from any and all real property ad valorem taxes and from payments in lieu of such taxes throughout the Term. However, should all or any part of parts of the Sports Facility become subject to any such taxes, then the parties shall each cooperate and use their respective best efforts (i) to cause Pinellas County to return its share of any such taxes and (ii) to secure legislation exempting the Sports Facility from such taxes. In the interim, The Phillies and the City shall each pay one-half of any such taxes, net of any City ad valorem real property taxes, which

shall be paid by the City. Any such payments by The **Phillies** are herein referred to as the "Phillies Possessory Tax Share".

- 11.2 <u>Tax Protection</u>. The City shall throughout the Term hold The Phillies harmless from all other local (as opposed to Federal, State or County) taxes (except for income, sales and like taxes of general application), including without limitation amusement/ticket taxes, any increase in the sales tax rate applicable to tickets, use and occupancy taxes and surcharges on the Stadium or Sports Facility-derived revenues.
- 12.1.2 <u>City's Non-Property Coverage</u>. The City shall maintain at its expense during the Term of this Agreement the following **non-**property insurance:
  - (i) Auto Liability and General Liability: Self-Insured Level: \$100,000 per Person/\$200,000 per Occurrence self-insured retention with the statutory limits per Section 768.28 Florida Statutes. Excess Insurance: \$5,000,000 per occurrence excess insurance (no aggregate applicable) with self-insured retention of \$500,000.
  - (ii) Workers' Compensation: Statutory workers compensation Coverage per occurrence with self-insured retention of **\$500,000.**
- 12.1 <u>Property Coverage</u>. The City shall maintain at its expense during the Term of this Agreement the following property related insurance:
  - 12.2.1 Property insurance for 100% of full replacement value of the Sports Facility (including all improvements and personal property), with deductibles not exceeding \$50,000 per occurrence against loss by so-called "all risk" perils, including but not limited to fire, extended coverage, storm (including without limitation wind, floor and hurricane coverage), boiler and machinery, vandalism, malicious mischief, flood and earthquake. Such insurance is to contain a replacement cost endorsement, and endorsements eliminating any and all

coinsurance provisions.

12.2.2 For any work of construction conducted on the Site by or at the direction of the City, builder's risk insurance with the same limits and coverages as set forth in Subsection 12.2.1, provided that at the City's election, such insurance may be maintained by the contractor(s) performing the construction work at the Sports Facility.

12.2.3 City **Property** Self-Insurance or Self-Funding. Any provision of this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, while the City shall maintain insurance coverage and limits as provided for in this Agreement, parties hereto specifically agree that the City may do so by self-insurance and/or by purchase at the sole option of the City. To the extent required by the terms of this Agreement, insurance coverage and limits shall be evidenced by delivery to The Phillies of letters of self-Insurance or self-funding executed by the City's Risk Manager, or by certificates of insurance executed by either the agent for the insurers or the insurers or by copies of policy declaration pages. Such letters, certificates, and policy declaration pages shall list coverage (including the amount of insurance per claim and per occurrence, any gap in coverage, and the amount of excess insurance) and policy limits with expiration dates and major policy terms and endorsements.

Other than meeting the definition of a "tourism facility" under <u>Section 159.27(11)</u>, Florida Statutes, the proposed project fails to meet or violates the other substantive criteria of <u>Chanter 159</u>, <u>Part II</u>, <u>Florida Statutes</u>.

### **CONCLUSION**

Inasmuch as the proposed project does not qualify for Industrial Development Bonds, under Section 159, Part II, Florida Statutes, the project and bonds are not exempt from the referendum requirement of Article IX of the City of Clearwater's Charter. Therefore, in the absence of an authorizing referendum by the citizens of Clearwater, the Trial Court erred in entering a Final Judgment validating Appellee's bonds.