IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

DENNIS ROPER,
Defendant/Appellant,

CASE NO. SC01-796 Circuit Court Case No. 01-460-CI-015

VS.

CITY OF CLEARWATER, a municipal and public body corporate and politic of the State of Florida, Plaintiff/Appellee.

FILED THOMAS D. HALL
APR 3 3 2001

CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY____

ON APPEAL FROM THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT C. REID
Florida Bar No. 0832790
RANDALL W. HANNA
Florida Bar ID No. 039803
KENNETH A. GUCKENBERGER
Florida Bar No. 0892947
Attorneys for Appellee
Bryant, Miller and Olive, P.A.
201 S. Monroe Street, Suite 500
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(850) 222-8611

Appendix Part 1



CHARTER

March 9, 1999

I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of the original as it appears in the files of the City of Clearwater. Witness my hand and official seal of the City of Clearwater.

This day of figures, 2001

- stephenson

PART I CHARTER AND RELATED LAWS

Subpart A CHARTER*

*Editor's note--Printed herein is the home rule charter of the city, Ordinance No. 6371-99, as approved by the electors on March 9, 1999. Formerly, said Charter derived from Ordinance No. 1830, as approved by the electors on December 12, 1978. Additions made for clarity are indicated by brackets. Obviously misspelled words have been corrected without notation. A uniform style of capitalization and a uniform style of expression of numbers have been employed. Sections amended by subsequent ordinances are followed by a history note in parentheses.

State law reference(s) -- Municipal home rule powers act, F.S. ch. 166; charter amendments, F.S. § 166.031.

Article I.Corporate Existence and Powers

Sec. 1.01. Corporate existence and powers.

Sec. 1.02. Corporate boundaries.

Article II. Legislative Power

Sec. 2.01. Commission; composition; powers.

Sec. 2.02. Qualifications.

Sec. 2.03. Election and terms.

Sec. 2.04. Compensation and expenses.

Sec. 2.05. Mayor-commissioner, functions and powers.

Sec. 2.06. Prohibitions.

Sec. 2.07. Vacancies; forfeiture of office; filling advisory

boards.

Sec. 2.08. Procedure.

Sec. 2.09. Ordinances and resolutions in general.

Sec. 2.10. Authentication, recording and disposition of charter amendments, ordinances and resolutions.

Article III. Administration

Sec. 3.01. City manager.

Sec. 3.02. Appointment; removal; compensation.

Sec. 3.03. Powers and duties of the city manager.

Sec. 3.04. City clerk.

Sec. 3.05. Personnel system.

Article IV. City Attorney; Legal Department

Sec. 4.01. City attorney, legal department.

Sec. 4.02. City attorney, appointment, removal, compensation,

qualifications and duties.

Sec. 4.03. Assistant city attorneys, special counsel.

Sec. 4.04. Compensation.

Article V.	Reserved
Article VI.	Initiative, Referendum; Recall
Sec. 6.01.	Initiative.
Sec. 6.02.	Referendum.
Sec. 6.03.	Recall.
Sec. 6.04.	Commencement of proceedings.
Sec. 6.05.	Petitions.
Sec. 6.06.	Procedure to filing.
Sec. 6.07.	Referendum petitions; suspension of effect of ordinance.
Sec. 6.08.	Action on petitions.
Sec. 6.09.	Results of election.
Article VII.	General Provisions
Sec. 7.01.	Charter amendment.
Sec. 7.02.	Charter review advisory committee.
Article VIII.	Nominations and Elections
Sec. 8.01.	Qualified voters.
Sec. 8.02.	Nonpartisan elections.
Sec. 8.03.	Form of ballots.
Sec. 8.04.	Nominations.
Sec. 8.05.	Elections.
Sec. 8.06.	Candidate vacancy.
Article IX.	Fiscal Management Procedure
Article X.	Transition Schedule
Sec. 10.01.	Continuation of former charter provisions.
Sec. 10.02.	Ordinances preserved.
Sec. 10.03.	Rights of officers and employees.
Sec. 10.04.	Pending matters.
Sec. 10.05.	Schedule.

ARTICLE I. CORPORATE EXISTENCE AND POWERS

Section 1.01. Corporate existence and powers.

- (a) General Powers. The City of Clearwater, Florida, (the "city"), as created by Chapter 9710, Special Laws of Florida, 1923, as amended, shall exist and continue as a municipal corporation, shall have all governmental, corporate and proprietary powers to enable it to conduct municipal government, perform municipal functions and render municipal services, and may exercise any power for municipal purposes except when expressly prohibited by law. In addition to the powers enumerated herein, the city shall be vested with all powers granted by general or special acts of the Legislature of the State of Florida and otherwise provided by law.
- (b) Exercise of Powers. The city may exercise any of its powers or perform any of its functions and may participate in the financing thereof, by contract or otherwise, jointly or in cooperation with any one or more states or political subdivisions or agencies thereof, or the United States or any agency thereof, or with any person as defined by law.
- (c) Construction. The powers of the city under this charter shall be construed liberally in favor of the city. The city is empowered to do whatever is necessary and proper for the safety, health, convenience and general welfare of its inhabitants. The specific mention of a particular power in this charter shall not be construed as limiting the general power stated in this section of Article I.

(6372-99, § 1, 1-21-99/3-9-99)

Section 1.02. Corporate boundaries.

The corporate boundaries of the city shall be as they exist on the date this charter takes effect, provided that the city shall have the power to change its boundaries in the manner prescribed by law.

ARTICLE II. LEGISLATIVE POWER

Section 2.01. Commission; composition; powers.

- (a) Composition. There shall be a city commission, (the "commission), composed of five commissioners, including the mayor-commissioner. The members will occupy seats numbered one through five, inclusive. All members shall be elected at large by the voters of the city.
- (b) Powers. All legislative power of the city shall be vested in the commission, except as otherwise provided by law or the provisions of this charter, and the commission shall

- provide for the exercise thereof and for the performance of all duties and obligations imposed upon the city by law.
- (c) Duties. It shall be the duty of the commission to discharge the obligations and responsibilities imposed upon the commission by state law, city ordinance and this charter. As a part of the discharge of its duty, the commission shall:
 - 1. Each October, evaluate the performance of the city manager and city attorney, recognizing areas of exceptional performance as well as areas of in which performance can be improved. The evaluation process shall be determined by the commission. The results of the evaluation shall be reported to the citizens of the city.
 - 2. Adopt by ordinance a comprehensive system of fiscal management. The fiscal management ordinance shall include provisions relating to the operating budget, capital budget and capital program, providing for hearings on the budget, capital budget and capital program and the amendment of the budget following adoption.
 - 3. Provide for an annual or more frequent independent audit of all city accounts by a firm of certified public accountants. No firm shall be employed for more than five consecutive years. All audits shall be in accordance with law.
 - 4. Regulate comprehensive planning, zoning and land development as provided by law.
- (d) Limitations. The legislative power provided herein shall have the following limitations:
 - 1. The total indebtedness, which for the purpose of this limitation shall include revenue, refunding, and improvement bonds of the city, shall not exceed 20 percent of the current assessed valuation of all real property located in the city. The total budgeted expenditures in any fiscal year shall not exceed the total estimated revenue plus any unencumbered funds carried forward from a prior fiscal year.
 - 2. The city commission shall by ordinance adopt procedures for the purchase or rental of goods and services.
 - 3. Any non-budgeted expenditure in excess of \$5 million must be approved by the commission at two separate meetings held at least two weeks apart and advertised notice of a public hearing must be given at least five days prior to the second meeting.
 - With the exception of maintenance or emergency dredging, or dredging relating to that portion of

Dunedin Pass located within the boundaries of the city, permits for dredging or filling in excess of 10,000 cubic yards below the mean high water line may be authorized only after a properly advertised public hearing before the commission and approval at referendum.

Real property.

- (i) Prior to the sale, donation, lease for a term longer than five years, or other transfer of any municipal real property, the real property must be declared surplus and no longer needed for municipal public use by the commission at an advertised public hearing. Except in the case of right-of-way dedications, the granting of easements, or transactions with governmental entities as described herein, no real property may be given away or donated without prior approval at referendum.
- (ii) Except as otherwise provided herein, real property declared surplus shall be sold to the party submitting the highest competitive bid above the appraised value whose bid meets the terms set by the commission and whose proposed use of the property is in accordance with the commission's stated purpose for declaring the property surplus, if any.
- (iii) Surplus real property may be transferred to another governmental entity for less than the appraised value after an advertised public hearing has been held and a finding by the commission of a valid public purpose for the transfer.
- (iv) Surplus real property may be exchanged for other real property having a comparable appraised value.
- (v) No municipally owned real property identified as recreation/open space on the city's comprehensive land use plan map on November 16, 1989 (or as may be amended thereafter), may be sold, donated, leased for a new use, or otherwise transferred without prior approval at referendum, except when the commission determines it appropriate to dedicate right-of-way from such property. Such recreation/open space property may be leased for an existing use, without referendum, unless such lease is otherwise prohibited by charter or ordinance.
- (vi) No right-of-way or easement which terminates at, or provides access to, the water's edge of a body of fresh or salt water may be vacated for private benefit. Nothing contained in this section shall prevent an easement for utility purposes from

being exchanged for a new easement for similar purposes or from converting a fee interest for utility purposes into an easement for such purposes.

- (vii) The commission may lease municipal real property for five years or less without declaring it surplus. Municipal real property declared surplus may be leased for a term up to 30 years, provided, however, nothing herein shall preclude renewal of any lease for a maximum of 30 years. Municipal property declared surplus may be leased for an initial period of time or a renewal period exceeding 30 years, if approved at referendum, but not to exceed 60 years total. Leases of real property in an industrial park shall provide for continual use for private/public business purposes, shall provide a reasonable rate of return on the city's investment, and shall include a rent escalation clause.
- (viii) All leases of municipal real property shall contain recapture and reverter clauses.
- (ix) When purchasing real property for less than \$250,000.00, the commission shall obtain an appraisal performed by city staff or independent certified appraiser. If the purchase price of such property equals or exceeds \$250,000.00 but is less than \$500,000.00, the commission shall obtain at least one appraisal by an independent certified appraiser. If the purchase price of such property equals or exceeds \$500,000.00, the commission shall obtain at least two appraisals by independent certified appraisers.
- 6. No municipal or other public real property lying west of Osceola Avenue, east of Clearwater Harbor between Drew and Chestnut Streets, being further described as:

That portion of city-owned land bounded on the north by the right-of-way of Drew Street, on the east by the right-of-way of Osceola Avenue, on the south of the right-of-way of Pierce Street, and on the west by the waters of Clearwater Harbor, lying below the 28 mean sea level elevation, together with the following described tract: Beginning at the northeast corner of section 16, township 29 south, range 15 east, Pinellas County, Florida, and run thence west along the north line of said section, 1320.0 feet; thence south along the west line of the east one-half of the northeast one-quarter of said section 16, 1526.16 feet to an intersection with an easterly projection of the centerline of Pierce Street; thence south 89°45'00" W along the centerline of Pierce Street, 418 feet to an iron stake set in a projection of the west line of Osceola Avenue as extended across Pierce Street; thence south 20 feet along

this projection of the southwest corner of the intersection of Pierce Street and Osceola Avenue; thence south 88°18'42" W along the south line of Pierce Street, 375 feet to the point of beginning; thence continue south 88°18'42" W, 270.89 feet along said south line of Pierce Street to the east right-of-way line of Pierce Boulevard; thence south 19°24'39" east along aforesaid east right-of-way along a curve to the right, chord 157.24 feet, arc 157.41 feet, radius 980 feet; thence north 88°18'46" east, 120.42 feet; thence north 0°14'32" west, 50 feet; thence north 88°18'42", 100 feet; thence north 0°14'32" west, 99.80 feet to the point of beginning less and except that portion of the above described tract designated for the Bandshell Site,

and no municipal or other public real property constituting the Memorial Causeway or lands immediately contiguous thereto, more particularly described as:

That portion of Memorial Causeway (S.R. 60) a 1200-foot-wide right-of-way, lying between the east abutment of the west bridge and the east line of Clearwater Harbor, and the submerged portions of Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund Deed Numbers 17,500 and 17,502,

shall be developed or maintained other than as open space and public utilities together with associated appurtenances, except upon a finding by the commission at a duly advertised public hearing that such development is necessary in the interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the city and approval of such finding at referendum, conducted subsequent to the public hearing. City-owned tennis courts and associated appurtenances may be constructed and maintained on such property south of Cleveland Street.

7. No city owned real property in the area bounded on the north by Drew Street, on the east by Osceola Avenue, on the south by Pierce Street, and on the west by the waters of Clearwater Harbor, shall be sold, donated, leased, or otherwise transferred or used for other than city facilities except upon a finding by the commission at a duly advertised public hearing that such transfer or use is necessary and in the interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the city and the approval of such finding at referendum; except for that structure known as Harborview Center, more particularly described as:

Beginning at the Northeast corner of Lot 1 of Rompon's & Baskin's Corrected Map of Causeway Business District, according to the plat thereof as recorded in Plat Book 57, Pages 1 and 2, Public Records of Pinellas County, Florida, for a POINT OF BEGINNING, said point being said Westerly right-of-way line of Osceola Avenue; run thence S 01°26'17" E, along said Westerly right-of-way

line of Osceola Avenue, 224.38 feet, to the Northerly right-of-way line of Cleveland Street; thence N 89°58'26" W, along said Northerly right-of-way line of Cleveland Street, 403.55 feet; thence N 00°00'15" W, along a line West of the existing Harborview Center Building, 217.30 feet; thence along a line Northerly of said Harborview Center Building the following two courses, S 89°58'26" E, 187.20 feet; thence N 88°07'145" E, 310.85 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING.

Which structure may be leased for and used in furtherance of any municipal purpose consistent with the character and ordinances of the city.

(Ord. No. 6373-99, §§ 1, 2, 1-21-99/3-9-99)

Section 2.02. Qualifications.

Members of the commission shall be qualified voters of the city and shall have continuously resided in the city for at least one year prior to submitting a petition for election. The commission shall be the judge of the election and the other qualifications of its members and of the grounds for forfeiture of their office.

Section 2.03. Election and terms.

All commissioners, including the mayor-commissioner, shall be elected for terms of three years. Terms shall overlap, with two commissioners elected one year, and the additional two commissioners and the mayor-commissioner elected the following year.

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